
October 31, 2012

Attorney General Eric Holder 
Assistant Attorney General for the Civil Rights Division Thomas E. Perez 
Voting Section Chief, Chris Herren
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530-0001

RE:  Request for Federal Monitoring of the November 6, 2012 General Elections 
in NY, NJ, VA, PA, GA, and MA

Dear Attorney General Holder, Assistant Attorney General Perez, and Mr. Herren: 

The Asian American Legal Defense and Education Fund (“AALDEF”) is a non-partisan civil 
rights organization that protects and promotes the voting rights of Asian Americans.  We request 
that the Attorney General assign attorneys and appoint federal observers to monitor the elections 
on November 6, 2012 for practices that may infringe on the ability of Asian Americans to 
exercise their right to vote, as well as to ensue the full force of the nation’s voting protections 
under federal laws.  

This request arises from complaints by voters and from AALDEF’s observation of past elections, 
which uncovered numerous violations of the Voting Rights Act’s (VRA) language minority 
provisions (Section 203) and nondiscrimination provisions (Section 2); Help America Vote Act 
(HAVA); National Voter Registration Act (NVRA); and 14th Amendment of the United States 
Constitution.  AALDEF requests that attorneys and federal observers be assigned to monitor the 
elections in the following jurisdictions: 

• Queens County, New York for Bengali language assistance under Section 203 of the VRA; 
• Bergen County, New Jersey for Korean language assistance under Section 203 of the VRA;
• Fairfax County, Virginia to guard against partisan interference with Korean Americans’ 

exercise of their right to vote; 
• Philadelphia and Bensalem, Pennsylvania for nondiscriminatory application of voter photo 

identification requirements under Section 2 of the VRA; 
• Greater Atlanta, Georgia for nondiscriminatory application of voter proof of citizenship 

requirements under Section 2 of the VRA; and 
• Lowell, Massachusetts for the provision of provisional ballots under Section 302 of HAVA.  
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AALDEF monitored elections in these jurisdictions in 2004, 2006, 2008, 2010, and 2012.  
AALDEF conducted a multilingual survey of 16,665 Asian American voters in 2008; 
interviewed voters after they voted or were denied their right to vote; and received complaints 
from voters and other community-based organizations.  AALDEF has submitted, to the relevant 
local elections officials, complaint letters that detail all of these observations.  Yet these 
jurisdictions have done little to remedy the violations.  Summarized below are the most critical 
violations of federal law, warranting federal oversight.  

A.  Queens County, New York
Queens County has been covered for Asian Indian language assistance under Section 203 of the 
Voting Right Act since October 13, 2011.  However, the New York City Board of Elections has 
been slow to implement the new coverage, despite AALDEF urging it to do so several times.  
The Board of Elections did not provide Bengali language ballots for the General Election on 
November 8, 2011; the Presidential Primary Election on April 24, 2012; the Federal Primary 
Election on June 26, 2012; and the State Primary Election on September 13, 2012.  On August 
22, 2012 the Board announced that it would not provide translated Bengali ballots for the 
Presidential Election on November 6, 2012.  Translated ballots are required under Section 203.  
Queens County’s failure to provide them is a violation of federal law.  
 
Although the Board of Elections has offered to provide translated sample ballots, comparing a 
Bengali ballot to an English ballot is cumbersome for voters.  The use of translated sample 
ballots is a new and completely untested procedure in New York City.  Moreover, there is little 
assurance that such translated sample ballots will even be at poll sites for Bengali-speaking 
voters to access. 

The Board of Elections stated that it would provide and display Bengali language signage 
notifying voters of the availability of language assistance.  When AALDEF observed the 
Congressional Primary Elections on June 26, 2012 and State Primary Elections on September 13, 
2012, we found insufficient signage at poll sites in South Asian neighborhoods.  No “Interpreter 
Available” signs were posted outside the sites.  Inside the sites, Bengali interpreters had to sit in 
front of signs identifying them as interpreters that were translated in Chinese and Korean.  South 
Asian voters were naturally unaware that language assistance was available to them or how to 
access language assistance.  The Board of Elections’s past failure to provide translated voting 
materials and continued unwillingness to provide Bengali language materials violates Section 
203.     

Federal monitoring of the elections in Queens County, New York will encourage the Board of 
Elections to comply with Section 203.  Additional information is contained in AALDEF’s letters 
to the New York City Board of Elections on July 15, 2012, September 11, 2012, and September 
19, 2012. 

B.  Bergen County, New Jersey
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In the past, the right to vote of Korean Americans in Bergen County has been limited by the 
county’s failure to provide Korean language assistance.  In 2008, AALDEF polled 1,553 Asian 
American voters in New Jersey.  62% of the Korean Americans surveyed were limited English 
proficient (LEP).  22% stated that they preferred voting using translated voting materials or used 
an interpreter to vote.  

As of October 13, 2011, Bergen County is covered for Korean language assistance under \ 
Section 203. 76 Fed. Reg. 63602.  Despite AALDEF’s several offers of assistance, Bergen 
County still has not come up with a written plan to comply with Section 203’s mandates.  
 
During the Presidential Primary Election on June 5, 2012, AALDEF monitored six poll sites in 
Bergen County for compliance with Section 203.  Most of these poll sites were missing Korean-
speaking poll workers.  Five poll sites were missing bilingual signs that identified the poll sites 
as voting locations; that directed voters to the poll sites’ entrances; or that identified the 
precincts.  Ballots were not fully translated.  Candidates’ names were not transliterated into 
Korean, which meant that the Korean American voters had difficulty identifying their candidates 
of choice.  

Additionally, Section 302 of HAVA requires that poll sites have Voter Bill of Rights signs 
displayed. 42 U.S.C.S. § 15482(b)(2)(E).  However, in several past elections, including the 2008 
Primary Elections, Voter Bill of Rights signs were missing from many sites.   

Federal monitoring of the elections will help ensure Bergen County, New Jersey’s full 
compliance with Section 203 of the VRA and Section 302 of HAVA.  Additional incidents of 
non-compliance are detailed in AALDEF’s July 27, 2010 letter to the Bergen County Board of 
Elections.  

C.  Fairfax County, Virginia
Fairfax County has a significant Korean American population.  Through AALDEF’s voter 
survey, we found that 68% of the Korean American community is LEP and that 26% prefer to 
vote using language assistance.  Due to a lack of nonpartisan language assistance, LEP Korean 
American senior citizens have been taken advantage of throughout the voting process in past 
elections, and their votes and freedom to vote free of partisan influence possibly compromised.  

Section 208 of the VRA allows voters to be assisted by persons of their choice. 42 U.S.C. 
§1972aa-6.  AALDEF recognizes the importance of Section 208.  However, campaign workers 
may have abused Section 208 to further their own partisan agendas.  During the Presidential 
Election on November 4, 2008, we received complaints that a partisan campaign worker named 
Sue Wilson led groups of Korean American senior citizens into a poll site and violated their 
privacy while they were casting their votes.  Ms. Wilson appeared to be involved in the voting 
process beyond simply providing translation.  Ms. Wilson interceded when one voter requested a 
voter registration form, telling the voter “I will fill out the form for you tonight when I come 
over.”  
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From the 2006 election, we received more serious complaints.  We learned that Sue Wilson 
encouraged several unsuspecting Korean American senior citizens to apply for absentee ballots 
without their fully informed consent or understanding.  She had told them that absentee ballots 
were an easier way to vote.  After the residents received their absentee ballots, Ms. Wilson 
arranged another meeting with them to help them fill out those ballots.  A number of residents 
simply signed their absentee ballots and gave them to Ms. Wilson, who then marked the ballots 
in favor of particular candidates without the residents’ knowledge or expressed consent.  Then on 
Election Day on November 7, 2006, when some of these voters went to vote, to their surprise and 
dismay, they were turned away and told that they had already voted. 

These may not have been the only two incidents involving Ms. Wilson.  We believe that Ms. 
Wilson may have also employed the same tactics in elections as far back as the 2006 
gubernatorial election.

This fraud could have been averted if Fairfax County had provided these elderly Korean 
American voters with language assistance.  We have encouraged local elections officials to 
translate voting registration forms, absentee ballot applications, and Voter Bill of Rights 
statements into Korean.  We have pressed for the hiring of official non-partisan interpreters at 
poll sites on Election Day.  When we also called for an investigation of this matter, local election 
officials advised us to refer the matter to the U.S. Department of Justice. 

Federal monitoring of the elections in Fairfax County, Virginia will guard against the re-
occurrence of this voting fraud. Additional information about these past incidents is contained in 
AALDEF’s letters to the Virginia State Board of Elections and the Fairfax County Election 
Board on March 9, 2009.  

D.  Pennsylvania
On March 14, 2012 the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania enacted a “Photo ID Law” that requires 
all new voters to present photo proof of identification before casting their ballots. See P.L. 195, 
No. 18.  During AALDEF’s monitoring of prior elections in Pennsylvania, we have documented 
the discriminatory application of voter identification practices that may violate Section 2 of the 
VRA.  
 
The Pennsylvania Photo ID Law was challenged in state court.  Although the photo proof of 
identification requirement cannot be implemented in the Presidential Election on November 6, 
2012, after the elections, a court will consider the law again. See Applewhite v. Commonwealth of 
Pa., No. 71 MAP 2012 (Pa. Sept. 13, 2012).  Despite this temporary relief, poll workers might 
still seek to implement the law, denying Asian Americans the right to vote.    

During the 2008 elections, despite voter ID not being required in Pennsylvania, AALDEF 
observed inappropriate ID checks of voters.  According to AALDEF’s voter survey, 199 Asian 
American respondents were required to show identification.  Of these respondents, 135 or 68% 
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were not first-time voters, and thus did not need to show ID.  We are concerned that Asian 
American voters were required to show identification at disproportionately higher rates than 
other voters.  South Asian American voters in Bensalem specifically complained that they felt 
that they were racially profiled and subject to additional identification requests.  Such demands 
for identification may disenfranchise Asian American voters and may also violate Section 2.  

Moreover, PA’s Photo ID Law gives poll workers too much unfettered discretion.  Poll workers 
can then prevent voters from casting ballots on the ground that discrepancies purportedly exist 
concerning the voters’ identification.  This may have a further discriminatory impact on Asian 
American voters, because naming conventions in Asian cultures are often different from that of 
Western ones.  For example, in many Asian cultures, individuals’ family names appear first, 
before given names.  With such a high potential for confusion and error with regards to Asian 
American voters’ names, poll workers will likely use the cloak of the Photo ID Law to impose a 
voting identification requirement that disproportionately harms Asian American voters, violating 
Section 2. See 42 U.S.C. §1973(a).  

AALDEF urges federal monitoring of the elections in Pennsylvania to assess the impact of the 
Photo ID Law and to guard against potential violations of Section 2 of the VRA.  Additional 
information about these past incidents is contained in AALDEF’s March 6, 2009 letter to the 
Bucks County Board of Elections and the Philadelphia Law Department. 

E.  Georgia
Poll workers in Georgia may deny Asian Americans their right to vote during the Presidential 
Election on November 6, 2012 because of the state’s voter proof of citizenship requirement. See 
Ga. Code Ann. § 21-2-216 (2009).  About 225,000 Asian Americans live in Georgia.  Asian 
Americans are increasingly becoming citizens through naturalization and subsequently 
registering to vote.  Georgia’s S.B. 86 violates Section 2 of the VRA; the NVRA; and the 14th 
Amendment, disproportionately affecting new Asian American citizens.  

Section 2 of the VRA prohibits voting practices or procedures that discriminate on the basis of 
race, color, or membership in a language minority group. See 42 U.S.C. §1973(a).  Georgia’s 
S.B. 86 introduces a voting procedure and qualification that will more heavily impact minority 
groups with large numbers of foreign-born naturalized citizens.  We are concerned that Georgia’s 
voter proof of citizenship requirement will have a discriminatory impact on Asian American 
voters.   

Congress enacted the NVRA to promote voter registration and eliminate state-imposed voting 
requirements that “disproportionately harm voter participation by various groups including racial 
minorities.” See 42 U.S.C. §1973gg.  Through the Act, Congress created a national mail-in voter 
registration form.  Although most states, including Georgia, use their own mail-in voter 
registration forms, they are also obligated to use the national form.  Georgia’s S.B. 86 violates its 
obligation to use the national form through its proof of citizenship requirement, which places 
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new hurdles in the path of voter registration applicants.  The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth 
Circuit has ruled that state proof of citizenship laws violate the NVRA.  

Lastly, the 14th Amendment guards against requirements that burden the right to vote.  Georgia’s 
S.B. 86 makes voting and registering to vote much more difficult.   New voter registration 
applicants must prove their U.S. citizenship by showing one of only four possible forms of 
identification, including a U.S. passport, U.S. naturalization certificate, and U.S. birth certificate.  
If voters are unable to provide this documentary proof of U.S. citizenship, they will be 
disenfranchised from voting. 

Federal monitoring of the elections will guard against the disenfranchisement of Asian American 
voters in Georgia through the state’s requirement that voters prove U.S. citizenship. 

F.  Lowell, Massachusetts
Lowell, Massachusetts has the second highest Cambodian American population in the U.S., with 
more than one in ten residents identifying as Cambodian Americans.   Yet, many Cambodian 
American voters have faced difficulties in registering to vote and in voting.

Section 302 of HAVA establishes the right to vote by provisional ballot when individuals believe 
they are registered but their registration has some deficiency that prevents them from voting by 
machine. See 42 U.S.C. § 15482(a).  Lowell has repeatedly failed to provide provisional ballots 
to voters. 

During the last Presidential Election on November 4, 2008, voters were not permitted to vote by 
provisional ballot in Lowell.  Instead, when poll workers could not find the voters’ names on the 
voter lists, the workers directed the voters to go to City Hall to find out whether they were 
registered and cast provisional ballots there.  Voters complained to AALDEF that their names not 
appearing on the voter lists effectively precluded them from voting.  This problem occurred also 
in 2004.  We complained of it then.  However, Lowell has yet to fully comply with federal law.  
Lowell should adopt an easier approach and simply provide provisional ballots at its poll sites. 
 
Federal monitoring of the elections in Lowell, Massachusetts will ensure that voters, including 
Cambodian Americans, are able to vote by provisional ballots.  Additional information about 
these past incidents is contained in AALDEF’s letters to the Lowell City Clerk’s Office, Election 
Division on March 15, 2005 and March 16, 2009.  

Conclusion
AALDEF requests that the Attorney General assign attorneys and appoint federal observers to 
monitor the November 6, 2012 General Election in the six (6) above discussed jurisdictions.  
Monitoring by U.S. Department of Justice attorneys and federal observers will prevent 
jurisdictions’ non-compliance with the VRA, HAVA, and NVRA during this critical election.
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at gmagpantay@aaldef.org or 
212.966.5932.
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Sincerely,

Glenn D. Magpantay
Director, Democracy Program 

cc: 
U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Voting Section: Points of Contact— 
Georgia: Jennifer Maranzano, Maria Rios, Tracy Shafer
Massachusetts: Risa Berkower, Russ Nobile
New Jersey: Katherine Culliton, Catherine Meza
New York: Catherine Meza, Olympia Michel, Tracy Shafer, Justin Weinstein-Tull
Pennsylvania: Anna Baldwin, Catherine Meza
Virginia: Jenigh Garret, Christy McCormick, Autumn Payne 

Attachments: 
AALDEF Letters— 
New York City Board of Elections, July 15, 2012 
New York City Board of Elections, September 11, 2012 
New York City Board of Elections, September 19, 2012. 
Bergen County Board of Elections, July 27, 2010  
Fairfax County Election Board, March 9, 2009  
Virginia State Board of Elections, March 9, 2009
Bucks County Board of Elections and Philadelphia Law Department, March 6, 2009 
Lowell City Clerk’s Office, Election Division, March 15, 2005 
Lowell City Clerk’s Office, Election Division, March 16, 2009  
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